DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS FOR WEST

JEFFERSON COUNTY FOUNDATION, INC., a West Virginia Non-Profit Corporation

Petitioner / Plaintiff Below,

v. CASE NO.: 21-0235

WEST VIRGINIA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a Public Corporation of the State of West Virginia,

Respondent / Defendant Below,

and

ROXUL USA, INC. d/b/a ROCKWOOL, a Delaware Corporation,

Respondent / Defendant Below.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Appeal Arising from Orders Entered in Civil Action No.: 20-C-332 in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia Business Court Division

Christopher P. Stroech, Esq. WVSB #9387
Arnold & Bailey, PLLC 208 N. George Street
Charles Town, WV 25414

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. CONTRARY TO THE BUSINESS COURT'S HOLDING, APPELLANT'S CLAIMS DO NOT PRESENT A POLITICAL QUESTION.
- II. THE BUSINESS COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THAT THE WEST VIRGINIA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HAS THE AUTHORITY TO EXEMPT ROCKWOOL FROM EQUAL AND UNIFORM TAXATION THROUGH THE PROPOSED SALE-LEASEBACK ARRANGEMENT.
- III. THE BUSINESS COURT FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE ROCKWOOL TAX EXEMPTION CREATED BY THE WEST VIRGINIA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY'S RESOLUTION CONFLICTS WITH THE TAX IMMUNITY LAW DEVISED BY THE LEGISLATURE.
- IV. CONTRARY TO THE BUSINESS COURT'S CONCLUSION, THE SALE-LEASEBACK ARRANGEMENT CREATED BY THE WEST VIRGINIA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY'S RESOLUTION VIOLATES ARTICLE X, SECTION 1 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION.
- V. THE BUSINESS COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT WITHOUT ADDRESSING ANY ASPECT OF COUNT II OF THE COMPLAINT, WHICH SETS FORTH A SEPARATE CLAIM THAT WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 31-15-7 VIOLATES ARTICLE III, § 10 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION.
- VI. THE CASE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN TRANSFFERED FROM THE REGULAR CIVIL JURISDICTION OF THE KANAWHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT TO THE BUSINESS COURT DIVISION.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff below and Appellant herein, the Jefferson County Foundation, Inc. ("JCF"), filed the underlying Complaint against the West Virginia Economic Development Authority ("WVEDA") and Roxul USA, Inc. d/b/a Rockwool ("Rockwool"). JA 023. Plaintiff requested that the Circuit Court declare a Resolution and related actions taken by the WVEDA, specifically to authorize the issuance of revenue bonds for the benefit of Rockwool, in exchange for certain commercial properties, facilities and equipment owned by Rockwool, to be unconstitutional, because it allows Rockwool to be exempt from equal and uniform taxation. JA 026. The Complaint for Declaratory Judgment was filed in the Kanawha County Circuit Court, the jurisdiction wherein the WVEDA conducts its business. JA 023.

JCF is a 501(c)(3) Non-Profit Corporation, formed for the purpose of preserving and protecting the quality of life for all Jefferson County, West Virginia residents. JA 023. It educates and advocates for effective and accountable government, sustainable development, and the protection of health, heritage, and the environment. JA 024. It has a current priority focus of ensuring the accountability of all government entities that are involved in and responsible for the location, construction, permitting, and operation of the Rockwool industrial facility in Jefferson County. JCF has a Board of Directors consisting of three (3) members, who all own real and/or personal property in Jefferson County, West Virginia, and who pay related property taxes for the same. The Complaint herein was filed by the Directors, on behalf of JCF, in both their individual capacities as taxpayers and organizational capacities as Directors. These Directors will be damaged by Rockwool's unfair tax treatment identified herein. Id.

Defendant WVEDA is a public body organized pursuant to W.Va. Code § 31-15-1, et seq. (2020). JA 024. Defendant Rockwool, a Delaware Corporation, is a manufacturer of stone

wool insulation, and offers insulation products for the retail, commercial and industrial markets.

Id. Rockwool is a private, for profit entity that does not serve any public purpose.

Rockwool has constructed a heavy industrial manufacturing facility on a parcel of real property located in the City of Ranson, in the vicinity of West Virginia State Route 9, in Jefferson County, West Virginia, known as Jefferson Orchards. JA 024. From the planning inception, Rockwool and various local, county and state entities agreed to work together, at times inconspicuously, to ensure that Rockwool will operate. JA 025.

Rockwool and certain Jefferson County agencies executed a Payment in Lieu of Taxes

Agreement ("PILOT"), that purported to exempt Rockwool from paying ad valorem taxes on its

real and personal property. JA 029. For reasons similar to some of the arguments raised in this

case, the PILOT was challenged as being unconstitutional in the Jefferson County Circuit Court.

The Circuit Court ultimately determined, in part, that the PILOT was invalid as the Jefferson

County Development Authority ("JCDA") was not included as a signatory to the PILOT. JA

025.

Meanwhile, upon information and belief, and in response to the PILOT's invalidation, Rockwool approached the WVEDA to secure certain funding assistance for its facility. JA 025. On May 2, 2019, the WVEDA passed a RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE WEST VIRGINIA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY TO BE EXCHANGED FOR CERTAIN COMMERCIAL FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT OWNED BY ROXUL USA INC. D/B/A ROCKWOOL ("RESOLUTION"). JA 044.

Pursuant to the RESOLUTION, the WVEDA has agreed to issue certain revenue bonds, with the proceeds payable to Rockwool, in an amount not to exceed One Hundred and Fifty Million Dollars (\$150,000,000.00), in exchange for ownership of Rockwool's property. JA 045. Pursuant

to the RESOLUTION, the property would then be leased back to Rockwool by the WVEDA for a term not to exceed the term of the bonds and for lease payments to be made equal to the debt service payments on the bonds. <u>Id</u>. Pursuant to the RESOLUTION, Rockwool will then purchase the property from the WVEDA for One Dollar (\$1.00) at the end of the lease term. Id.

The clear purpose of this scheme is that WVEDA's interest in Rockwool's property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxation. As a result, Rockwool will not have to pay the same real and personal property taxes at the same rates as are assessed and levied against all other Jefferson County citizens and businesses.

JCF has alleged that the conduct and actions of the WVEDA violate Article X, Section 1 of the West Virginia Constitution, which provides that all property shall be taxed equally, and violate Article 11, Section 3, Chapter 9 of the West Virginia Code of 1931, as amended, as not being one (1) of the authorized articulated exceptions from ad valorem taxation. JA 026. JCF has further alleged that Chapter 31, Article 15, Section 7 of the West Virginia Code of 1931, as amended, is, on its face, vague, overly broad, irrational, unreasonable and/or violates JCF's rights under Article III, Section 10 and Article X, Section 1 of the West Virginia Constitution. JA 027. JCF requested that the actions of the Defendant WVEDA be declared null and void, of no effect, and not authorized by law.

This case was referred to the Business Court Division, Judge Christopher C. Wilkes, presiding (JA 351), over both Plaintiff's objections (JA 339) and the objections of the presiding Kanawha County Circuit Court, Judge Tod J. Kaufman (JA 345). Motions to Dismiss were filed by both Defendants, and upon briefing, were granted. JA 049; JA 247. JCF now appeals the following two (2) Orders: 1) Order Granting Defendant Roxul's Motion to Dismiss (JA 013); and 2) Order Granting Defendant WVEDA's Motion to Dismiss (JA 002)

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant believes that oral argument will assist this Honorable Court in properly reviewing this matter as this case presents issues of great significance to the citizens of Jefferson County and the State.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Business Court – the improper venue for this type of case – erred in dismissing the Complaint with the overarching conclusion that the Appellant's claims are non-justiciable political questions. The WVEDA does not have requisite authority to exempt Rockwool from equal and uniform taxation through the proposed sale-leaseback scheme. This scheme violates Article X, Section 1 of the West Virginia Constitution and conflicts with the tax immunity laws devised by the West Virginia Legislature.

VII. ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

All the issues raised on this appeal present purely questions of law, which this Court reviews *de novo*. *E.g.*, State ex rel. W. Va. Economic Development Grants Committee, 213 W. Va. 255, 262, 580 S.E.2d 869, 876 (2003); Phillip Leon M. v. Greenbrier County Board of Education, 199 400, 404, 484 S.E.2d 909, 913 (1996). As the case was decided below on two (2) Rule 12(b)(6) Motions to Dismiss, the facts alleged in the Complaint are to be taken as true and construed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff. *E.g.*, Sedlock v. Mayle, 222 W. Va. 547, 550, 668 S.E.2d 176, 179 (2008).

I. CONTRARY TO THE BUSINESS COURT'S HOLDING, APPELLANT'S CLAIMS DO NOT PRESENT A POLITICAL QUESTION.

The Business Court concluded both its Dismissal Orders with the following:

[T]he Court finds that the Complaint must be dismissed. Because the Court has decided this matter on the issue of the non-justiciable political question, the Court will dispense with Defendant's remaining arguments.

JA 012; JA 022. The court, however, nowhere identifies why any aspect of the case presents a non-justiciable political question. The Plaintiff's claims rely on straightforward questions of statutory interpretation (whether the Code confers authority on the WVEDA to enter into the leaseback contract with Rockwool, thereby giving it an enormous tax exemption) and constitutional law (whether that arrangement violates Article X, § 1 or Article III, § 10 of the West Virginia Constitution). These contentions do not implicate any of the traditional criteria that courts have relied upon to decide that a matter is a political question.

The criteria most prominently identified as bases for finding a political question include "a textually demonstrable constitutional commitment of the issue to a coordinate political department; or a lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving it; or the impossibility of deciding without an initial policy determination of a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion[.]" Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 217 (1962). This is not a case like Nixon v. United States, 506 U.S. 224 (1993), where the Constitution clearly assigned impeachment judgments to the Houses of Congress, or like Rucho v. Common Cause, 139 U.S. 2484 (2019), where the Court could find no manageable standards to determine just when a partisan gerrymander has gone too far. There is not even an argument that the Equal and Uniform Clause has been textually assigned elsewhere, and this Court has routinely decided cases applying it, e.g., Killen v. Logan County Commission; In re Assessment of Kanawha Valley Bank, and had no difficulty finding standards to determine what was "equal and uniform." Nor is this an instance involving an initial policy judgment clearly not for judicial discretion. Moreover, this Court has repeatedly rejected calls to label issues as non-justiciable political questions and has, instead, chosen to vindicate important

constitutional policies. E.g., State ex rel. Justice v. King, 244 W. Va. 225, 852 S.E.2d 292 (2020); State ex rel. Workman v. Carmichael, 241 W. Va. 105, 819 S.E.2d 251 (2018); Killen, supra (construing the meaning of Article X, § 1); Pauley v. Kelly, 162 W. Va. 672, 255 S.E.2d 859 (1979); Isaacs v. Board of Ballot Commissioners, 122 W. Va. 703, 12 S.E.2d 510 (1940).

The only authorities that the lower court mounted in support of its conclusions are completely inapposite. It cited Huffman v. Goals Coal Company, 223 W. Va. 764, 670 S.E.2d 323 (2009), for the proposition that courts have a "duty to enforce legislation unless it runs afoul of the State or Federal Constitutions." JA 019-020. Of course courts have such a duty, but the Plaintiff has alleged in this case that the relevant statutes do not authorize the WVEDA's action and that the action "runs afoul" of the Constitution. Huffman dealt with the meaning of the term, "permit area," under the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act and had absolutely naught to do with political questions. The lower court also relied upon Morrisey v. West Virginia AFL-CIO, 239 W. Va. 633, 636, 804 S.E.2d 883, 886 (2017), for the observation that courts do not inquire into the policy determinations that the Legislature makes in drafting a statute, but that Court also proceeded to address the constitutional merits of the challenge that was made there to the State's recently enacted "right to work law." Finally, the lower court noted the Court's admonition in Appalachian Power Company v. State Tax Department, 195 W. Va. 573, 596, 466 S.E.2d 424, 447 (1995), that courts should be wary about scrutinizing underinclusive challenges to tax legislation. Other than observing that that case and this one both involve taxation, the Business Court offered

¹ There may well be some issues that would qualify as a non-justiciable political question under the West Virginia Constitution, but one would be hard-pressed to find a decision of this Court that declines to decide an issue on the merits because it is a political question. Clearly, the scope of the doctrine in West Virginia is narrower than that applied by the United States Supreme Court. e.g., compare State ex rel. Workman, supra, with Nixon, supra, and compare White v. Manchin, 173 W.Va. 526, 318 S.E.2d 470 (1984), and Issaes, supra, with Powell v. McCormack, 395 U.S. 486, 520-522 (1969).

no explanation as to how the two contexts are similar and none comes to mind. Despite the caution expressed by the <u>Appalachian Power</u> Court, it did decide the merits of the equal protection challenge made in that case. Moreover, this case does not require an equal protection assessment of complex tax statutes; rather, this appeal, like <u>Killen</u>, *supra*, involves a straightforward interpretation of the meaning of "taxation shall be equal and uniform."

As this Court recently explained:

Challenges to constitutional language are not foreign to this Court. As the highest court in the State, it is clear that we are vested with the authority to review and interpret provisions of our State Constitution when presented with such cases and controversies. While this Court cannot and will not legislate, we will examine the Constitution's language, interpret it if necessary, and apply its provisions in a way that is consistent with the original purpose and understanding of the citizens at the time of the Constitution's ratification.

State ex rel. Justice v. King, 244 W. Va. at 298, 852 S.E.2d at 298.

II. THE BUSINESS COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THAT THE WEST VIRGINIA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HAS THE AUTHORITY TO EXEMPT ROCKWOOL FROM EQUAL AND UNIFORM TAXATION THROUGH THE PROPOSED SALE-LEASEBACK ARRANGEMENT.

Any exemptions from equal and uniform taxation that are allowed under Article X, § 1 of the West Virginia Constitution are exclusive, thus any exemptions legislatively created must be within the meaning of the listed terms and furthermore should be strictly construed. Central Realty Co. v. Martin, 126 W.Va. 915, 30 S.E.2d 720 (1944), In re Maier 173 W.Va. 641, 646, 319 S.E.2d 410, 415 (1984), and In re Hillcrest Memorial Gardens, Syl. Pt. 2, 146 W.Va. 337, 119 S.E.2d 753 (1961).²

² See also Robert M. Bastress, Jr., <u>The West Virginia State Constitution</u> 287 (2d ed. 2016), and Blake N. Humphrey, <u>Pilot Agreements in West Virginia: A Tale of Turbulent Taxation</u>, 123 W. Va. L. Rev. 376-77 (2020), available at: https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/wvlr/vol123/iss1/12 (last visited Jan. 26, 2021).

The provisions of the West Virginia Economic Development Act, codified at W.Va. Code § 31-15-1 et seq. ("the Act"), that set forth the authority provided to the WVEDA must be read conservatively, not expansively, in any attempt to construe the Act as authorizing an exemption from equal and uniform taxation.

In this respect, the Act's findings have no bearing in this analysis, as the need for the tax exemption for a private corporation at issue in this matter is in no way inherent in the legislature's identification of the need to combat unemployment and promote commerce in § 31-15-2 or its enunciation of the purposes for which the WVEDA was created in § 31-15-3 or its provision of "all powers necessary" to carry out the purposes in § 31-15-6. In other words, the WVEDA can work to accomplish its objectives and purposes without providing to Rockwool, a foreign private corporation, a tax exemption via the use of the sale-leaseback scheme at issue here.

Similarly, the authorities provided to the WVEDA in §§ 31-15-6(h),³ 31-15-6(i),⁴ 31-15-6(j),⁵ 31-15-6(x), 31-15-6(ee), 31-15-7, and 31-15-9(a) do not establish an exemption from fair and equal taxation for the sale-leaseback scheme that is at issue in this matter:

• Section 31-15-6(h)'s authorization for the WVEDA "[t]o finance any projects by making loans to industrial development agencies or enterprises upon such terms as the authority shall deem appropriate" does not imply or require that the terms of such loans made by the WVEDA would have the impact of providing an exemption from property tax to Rockwool.

³ Defendant WVEDA's Memorandum of Law Accompanying its Motion to Dismiss references § 31-5-6(h) but presumably meant to refer to § 31-15-6(h).

⁴ Defendant WVEDA's Memorandum of Law Accompanying its Motion to Dismiss references § 31-5-6(i) but presumably meant to refer to § 31-15-6(i).

⁵ Defendant WVEDA's Memorandum of Law Accompanying its Motion to Dismiss references § 31-5-6(j) but presumably meant to refer to § 31-15-6(j).

- Section 31-15-6(i)'s authorization for the WVEDA "[t]o issue revenue bonds or notes to fulfill the purposes of this article, and to secure the payment of such bonds or notes" does not imply or require that the terms of such revenue bonds or notes, including the securitization of same, would have the impact of providing an exemption from property tax to Rockwool.
- Section 31-15-6(j)'s authorization for the WVEDA "[t]o issue and deliver revenue bonds or notes in exchange for a project" can be interpreted in multiple ways including most straightforwardly as permitting the WVEDA to issue revenue bonds or notes for a permissible project in return for a binding commitment that such project would proceed. Section 31-15-6(j) cannot reasonably be interpreted to authorize a sale-leaseback arrangement with a private corporation of the type that is at issue in this matter and no case law supports such an interpretation. If that is the WVEDA's position, it directly conflicts with the statutory construction required to determine the appropriateness of tax exemptions.
- Section 31-15-6(x)'s authorization for the WVEDA "[t]o acquire...any real or personal property, or any right or interest therein, as may be necessary or convenient to carry out the purposes of the authority" does not imply or require that such property acquisition would involve a sale-leaseback arrangement of the type at issue here.
- Section 31-15-6(ee)'s authorization for the WVEDA "[t]o sell, license, lease, mortgage, assign, pledge or donate its property, both real and personal, or any right or interest therein to another...in such manner and upon such terms as it deems appropriate" does not explicitly authorize the sale-leaseback mechanism at issue in this matter, which would need to be the case for this or any of the cited provisions (singly or in combination) given the strict construction required to be used in light of the subject matter at hand.

• Section 31-15-7's authorization for the WVEDA to loan an enterprise up to 100% of the costs of a "project" from the proceeds of bonds or notes specifies terms that the WVEDA could include within the terms of such a loan "to protect the jobs intended to be created by the project" but does not specify the sale-leaseback mechanism at issue in this matter as one of them. Thus, given the strict construction required to be used in light of the subject matter at hand, this authorization (as well as the authorization in § 31-15-9(a)) does not support the sale-leaseback mechanism creating an impermissible tax exemption for Rockwool.

Furthermore, while § 31-15-17 exempts WVEDA's property from taxation, that section fails to explicitly authorize the sale-leaseback transaction at issue in this matter and thus does not have the effect of authorizing the tax exemption to Rockwool. Additionally, that section limits the tax exemption that it does authorize to those arising from "[t]he exercise of the powers granted to the [WVEDA] by [Article 15]" and as noted above the WVEDA did not properly exercise the powers granted to it thus making inapplicable to the current instance the tax exemption authorized by § 31-15-17.

Finally, the facts that the legislature established the entity now called the WVEDA in 1962 and that the WVEDA has participated in similar schemes in the past to provide tax exemptions to other private corporations are irrelevant in analyzing the merits herein. As a commentator recently noted, unlike in other states, in West Virginia, these types of sale-leaseback arrangements⁶ "have not received significant judicial or legislative scrutiny with regard to either constitutionality or legality." Defendants' characterization of the WVEDA's performance as "game changing" and

⁶ Such sale-leaseback arrangements are frequently accompanied by an agreement for payments to be made by the private corporation to local governmental or other entities in lieu of (and less than) the taxes the corporation would otherwise have paid, thus leading to the name "PILOT" being used to describe these mechanisms.

⁷ Humphrey, *supra*, at 375.

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