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

This Court next took up the tax treatment of leaseholds in its 2004 decision in Maplewood Com­

munity, Inc. v. Craig,90 where it considered the circumstances under which a leasehold would have 

independent value. The Maplewood court resolved that question by holding that a leasehold will 

have independent value only if it is "economically advantageous to the lessee, that is a so-called 

bargain lease, and is freely assignable so that the lessee may realize the benefit of such bargain in 

the market place."91 

Twelve years after Maplewood, the tax treatment ofleaseholds came back before this Court 

in University Park at Evansdale, LLC v. Musick (UPE I),92 on an issue that is dispositive here: 

88 Greene Line Terminal Co. , 122 W. Va. at---, 10 S.E.2d at 905 . 
89 Syl. Pts. 1 & 2, Great A&P Tea Co. v. Davis, 167 W. Va. 53,278 S.E.2d 352 (1981) (emphasis added). 
90 Maplewood Cmty., Inc. v. Craig, 216 W. Va. 273, 607 S.E.2d 379 (2004) (per curiam). 
91 Id. at 287, 607 S.E.2d at 393 (quoting "Valuation of Leasehold Interests," State Tax Commissioner's 
Annual In-Service Training Seminar for Assessors, June 14, 1989)). 
92 Univ. Park at Evansdale, LLC v. Musick, 238 W. Va. 106, 792 S.E.2d 605 (2016) (UPE I) . 
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whether the presumption against assessable value for leaseholds qualifies as a property-tax exemp­

tion. West Virginia University Board of Governors ("WVU") had leased property to a private 

developer for the development of a new mixed-use facility on its Evansdale Campus. 93 The private 

developer had then sub-leased the majority of the facility back to WVU for operation as student 

housing, while retaining a small portion of the facility to operate as retail space on its own. 

When the county assessor assessed the private developer's leasehold interest at $9.035 mil­

lion for tax year 2015, the private developer appealed to the county board of equalization and 

review.94 It argued that, under Maplewood, its leasehold lacked assessable value because it was 

not a bargain lease and freely assignable. 95 The board of equalization and review concluded that 

this was a taxability question (i.e., a claim for an exemption) that fell outside of its jurisdiction and 

dismissed the appeal. 96 After the trial court affirmed the board of equalization and review in an 

intermediate appeal, the private developer then appealed to this Court. 97 

The UPE I court recognized that the presumption against assessable value leads to a "$0 

valuation that may result in a lack oftaxability."98 Even so, the UPE I court held that this presump­

tion is not a claim to exemption. 99 It is instead a determination of value. And it is for that reason 

that UPE I is dispositive here: when the tax treatment ofROCKWOOL's leasehold interest in the 

RAN-5 Facility is not based on an exemption, there can be no violation of the constitutional limi­

tations under Article X § 1 or the statutory requirements under W. Va. Code§ 31-15-17 or W. Va. 

Code§ 11-3-9. 

93 Id. at 108, 792 S.E.2d at 607. 
94 Id. 
9s Id. 
96 Id. at 108, 792 S.E.2d at 607-08. 
97 Id. at 109, 792 S.E.2d at 608. 
98 Id. at 113, 792 S.E.2d at 605. 
99 Id. 
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The Foundation attempts to distinguish these cases in its opening brief by framing them as 

not involving a "tax sham" for the benefit of a private, for-profit company. 100 But the Foundation 

has misunderstood the facts of these cases and their holdings. Though the Maplewood court denied 

exemptions to the two senior living facilities, it remanded the case for one of those facilities for 

the trial court to make a determination on assessable value.101 The trial court on remand then ap­

plied the freely-assignable and bargain-lease standard to set the assessed value at $0. 102 And in the 

case of UPE I, the Foundation omits that the private developer actually retained a portion of the 

mixed-use facility to operate as retail space on a for-profit basis. 103 This Court nonetheless held 

when the parties returned two years later, in Musick v. University Park at Evansdale, LLC (UPE 

11), 104 that the dispositive factor on value is whether the leasehold itself has value-not whether 

the leaseholder uses it to conduct a for-profit business. The Foundation not only misstates this 

standard for assessing leasehold interests in its opening brief, 105 it makes assertions about the sale­

leaseback terms that it cannot possibly support. No one-and certainly not the Foundation--can 

state that the leasehold is freely assignable and a bargain lease when the transaction has not even 

been completed. 

Nor has the Foundation identified persuasive authority in In re Maier106 or Gables Realty 

L.P. v. Travis Central Appraisal District. 107 This Court in In re Maier was confronted with the 

question of whether the Maier Scholarship Foundation could claim an exemption for the leasehold 

100 Pet'r's Br. 18. 
101 Maplewood, 216 W. Va. at 287, 607 S.E.2d at 393. 
102 Mon Elder Servs., Inc. v. Monongalia Cnty. Comm 'n., Nos. 02-C-AP-18, 03-C-AP-l 0, 04-C-AP-13, 05-
C-AP-10 (W. Va. Cir. Ct. June 23, 2005). 
103 UPE I, 238 W. Va. at 108 n. l, 792 S.E.2d at 607 n. l. 
104 Musick v. Univ. Park at Evansdale, LLC, 241 W. Va. 194, 202 n.33, 820 S.E.2d 901, 909 n.33 (2018) 
(UPE II). 
105 See Pet'r's Br. 19. 
106 In re Maier, 173 W. Va. at 641,319 S.E.2d at 410. 
107 Gables Realty L.P. v. Travis Cent. Appraisal Dist., 81 S.W.3d 869 (Tex. App. 2002). 
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interest it held in property owned by the Kanawha County Commission. 108 The tax treatment of 

ROCKWOOL's leasehold interest in the RAN-5 facility, however, does not depend on an exemp­

tion-it rests on the presumption against assessable value. Gables Realty, for its part, applies Texas 

law that, unlike West Virginia law, does not authorize absolute exemptions of public property and 

generally does not authorize separate assessments ofleaseholds. 109 It is entirely irrelevant here. 

The trial court properly rejected the inapposite authority advanced by the Foundation and 

based its decision on the well-established rules for leasehold interests under Great A&P, Maple­

wood, UPE I, and UPE 11. 110 The trial court accordingly concluded that the sale-leaseback will 

provide ROCKWOOL with leasehold that presumptively lacks assessable value. 111 That 

ROCKWOOL would not then pay the same taxes on its leasehold as it would on a freehold did 

not, as the trial court logically concluded, give rise to an Article X § 1 equal and uniform taxation 

clause violation. 112 

This Court should accordingly reject the Foundation's third and fourth assignments of error 

and affirm the trial court's dismissal orders. 

3. The trial court properly concluded that the Foun­
dation had presented a political question by argu­
ing that the law blessed something that it should 
not. 

There should be no doubt from the discussion above that the WVEDA has the power to 

enter into a sale-leaseback with ROCKWOOL for the RAN-5 Facility. The Legislature has exer­

cised its near-plenary authority to give the WVEDA the power to issue bonds, 113 to exchange those 

108 In re Maier, 173 W. Va. at 646, 319 S.E.2d at 416. 
109 Gables Realty, 81 S.W.3d at 874-75. 
110 J .A. 10-11 & J.A. 21-22 
Ill J,A. 10 & J.A. 21 
112 J.A. 10-11 & J.A. 21-22. 
113 W. Va. Code§ 31-15-6(i). 
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bonds for the RAN-5 Facility, 114 to lease the RAN-5 Facility back to ROCKWOOL, 115 and then 

to sell the RAN-5 Facility to ROCKWOOL at the end of the lease tenn. 116 But there should also 

be no doubt that the Legislature has the authority under Article X § 1 to exempt the WVEDA's 

resulting freehold interest in W. Va. Code § 31-15-17 regardless ofits use. And there finally should 

be no doubt that the presumption against assessable value for ROCKWOOL's resulting leasehold 

interest is not a claim to exemption that implicates either Article X § 1 or W. Va. Code § 11-3-9. 

The sale-leaseback and its tax consequences are, in a word, lawful. 

The trial court recognized that what the Foundation is arguing at its core is that "the sale­

leaseback is something the law blesses when it should not." 117 That is the political question. It is a 

request for the courts to usurp a co-equal branch's judgment by determining how the WVEDA 

exercises its legislatively-conferred powers. That is admittedly not an inquiry into legislative ap­

portionment like in Baker v. Carr118 or a collateral attack on an impeachment like in Nixon v. 

U.S. 119 But that does not make it any more justiciable. As this Court held in Morrisey v. West 

Virginia AFL-CIO, 120 the "wisdom, desirability, and fairness of a law are political questions to be 

resolved in the Legislature." This Court has also written that taxation disputes are perhaps the 

classic political questions. 121 So when the Foundation asked the trial court to declare that lawful 

conduct constitutes an unlawful sham, that is something that the political question doctrine will 

not permit. 

114 W. Va. Code§ 31-15-60). 
115 W. Va. Code§ 31-15-6(ee). 
116 Jd. 
117 J.A. 10 & J.A. 20. 
118 Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186 (1962). 
119 Nixon v. US., 406 U.S. 224 (1993). 
120 Morrisey v. W. Va. AFL-CIO, 239 W. Va. 633,636,804 S.E.2d 883,886 (2017). 
121 Lowe v. Richards, 234 W. Va. 48, 56 n.9, 763 S.E.2d 64, 72 n.9 (2014) (quoting Killen v. Logan Cnty. 
Comm 'n, 170 W. Va. 602, 624, 295 S.E.2d 689, 711 (1982) (Neely, J., dissenting)). 
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This Court accordingly should reject the Foundation's first assignment of error and affirm 

the trial court's dismissal orders. 

C. The trial court did not err by failing to address the Foun­
dation's claims under Article III § 10 of the West Vir­
ginia Constitution in Count II of the complaint. 

1. The Foundation abandoned its Article III § 10 
claims when it failed to defend them in its re­
sponses to the defendants' motions to dismiss. 

The Foundation alleged in Count II of its complaint that W. Va. Code§ 31-15-17 is facially 

vague, overly broad, irrational, unreasonable, or otherwise in violation of its rights under Article 

III § 10 and Article X § 1. 122 When it moved to dismiss in May 2020, ROCKWOOL dedicated 

more than five pages of its supporting brief to this claim alone. 123 The response that the Foundation 

filed in June 2020, however, offered no defense of its claims under Article III § 10. 124 

ROCKWOOL accordingly noted in its reply brief, filed that same month, that the Foundation had 

abandoned them. 125 The Foundation nonetheless again offered no defense of its Article III § 10 

claims when, six months later, it filed its response to the WVEDA's separately-filed motion to 

dismiss. 126 

It was thus entirely proper for the trial court to have not specifically addressed the Foun­

dation's Article III§ 10 claims. The Foundation abandoned those claims when it failed to defend 

them in response to ROCKWOOL's and the WVEDA's motions to dismiss. It would be unthink­

ably perverse for this Court to reward the Foundation for its own negligence or sloth by now re­

versing and remanding for those claims to go forward. That is not, and cannot be, the rule in West 

122 J.A. 27. 
123 J.A. 68-73. 
124 J.A. 127-46 
i2s J.A. 171. 
126 J.A. 264-282. 
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Virginia. 

This Court should accordingly reject the Foundation's fourth assignment of error and af­

firm the trial court's dismissal orders. 

2. The Foundation's Article III § 10 are precluded 
by Article X § 1. 

When a plaintiff brings a claim that is covered under a specific constitutional clause it is 

limited to seeking relief under that clause alone. 127 So when it alleged that ROCKWOOL is bene­

fitting from unequal taxation, the Foundation was limited to arguments under the specific consti­

tutional clause governing that issue: the equal and uniform taxation clause under Article X § 1. 

The Foundation could not also assert general claims under Article III§ 10, and the trial court did 

not err by not addressing them. 

This Court should accordingly reject the Foundation's fourth assignment of error for this 

additional reason and affirm the trial court's dismissal orders. 

D. This Court properly referred this action to the Business 
Court Division and its decision should not be reviewed as 
part of this appeal. 

The Chief Justice referred this case to the Business Court Division in December 2020 after 

receiving briefing from all parties and the originally-assigned trial judge, Judge Tod Kaufman. The 

reason the Chief Justice gave for referral is that the case "involved matters of significance to the 

transactions, operations, or governance between business entities" and would benefit from special­

ized treatment. 128 The Foundation never asked the Chief Justice to reconsider that decision, and 

the Chair of the Business Court Division accordingly assigned Judge Christopher Wilkes to preside 

127 Cnty. of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833,842 (1998); see also Nutter v. Mellinger, No. 2:19-CV-
00787, 2020 WL 401790, at *6 (S.D.W. Va. Jan. 23, 2020) (applying rule to the West Virginia Constitu­
tion). 
i2s J .A. 351. 
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over this case. It is from Judge Wilkes' dismissal orders that the Foundation appeals. 

There is no authority under the trial court rules governing Business Court Divisions for the 

Foundation to assign error to the Chief Justice's referral as part of this appeal. Nor can the Chief 

Justice's referral be considered to be incorporated into the final judgments of the trial court from 

which this appeal was taken. Any reconsideration of the ChiefJustice's referral at this stage would 

be, at best, discretionary, and there are many reasons why this Court should refrain. Foremost, 

however, is that reconsideration would undermine confidence in the Business Court Division by 

calling into question the finality of any referrals. It would also be grossly inefficient to remove this 

case from Judge Wilkes, who is deeply familiar with the facts and legal arguments, and reassign it 

to a new trial judge in the regular civil division. 129 

This Court should also refrain from reconsidering referral because the Chief Justice's orig­

inal decision was correct. The Foundation has renewed its argument here that this case is not a 

matter "between business entities" and, thus, does not qualify for referral as "business litigation." 

But the Foundation's interpretation is too narrow. In defining business litigation, this Court spe­

cifically included "complex tax appeals" that, similar to this case, will always include at least one 

governmental party. 130 This Court, moreover, has never defined "business entities," and that term 

logically encompasses the WVEDA when it is engaging in a business transaction, as it is here. 

Whether this case fits the definition for business litigation is also, at bottom, an academic 

dispute. Under Article VIII § 3 of the West Virginia Constitution, the Chief Justice "shall be the 

administrative head of all the courts" and "may assign a judge ... from one circuit court to another 

... for temporary service."131 To the extent that the Chief Justice interpreted definition of "business 

129 Judge Kaufman retired after this case was referred to the Business Court Division. 
130 W. Va. Tr. Ct. R. 29.04. 
131 W. Va. Const. Art. VIII§ 3. 
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litigation" too broadly, he had the constitutional authority to make the assignment regardless. 

To the extent that this Court finds it necessary to address this issue, this Court should ac­

cordingly reject the Foundation's fifth assignment of error and affirm the Chief Justice's original 

referral to the Business Court Division. 

CONCLUSION 

The Act authorizes the WVEDA to take each step incident to a sale-leaseback with 

ROCKWOOL: issuance of bonds, exchange of those bonds for the RAN-5 facility, and lease of 

the RAN-5 facility back to ROCKWOOL. Article X § 1 allows the Legislature to exempt the 

freehold interest that the WVEDA will acquire in the RAN-5 Facility from taxation regardless of 

its use, and the WVEDA exercised that authority here when it enacted W. Va. Code § 31-15-17. 

And this Court has held that the leasehold interest that ROCKWOOL will acquire in the RAN-5 

facility can presumptively lack assessable value without being treated as an exemption. Having 

reached those conclusions, the trial court found that the Foundation was asking it to forbid what 

the law permits and dismissed the complaint as a non-justiciable political question. The trial court 

neither erred in this judgment nor in failing to address claims that the Foundation had abandoned. 

This Court should accordingly affrrm the trial court's dismissal orders and reject the challenge to 

its Business Court Division referral as moot.